A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

L THE SUPERIOR COURT MISAPPLIED WASHINGTON

AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL LAW WHEN IT

HELD THAT THE STOP OF THE DEFENDANT'SCAR

WAS PRETEXTUAL AND UNLAWFUL.

II. THE SUPERIOR COURT MISAPPLIED WASHINGTON

AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL LAW WHEN IT

HELD THAT TROOPER THOMPSON GAVE

IMPROPER OPINION TESTIMONY AND THAT SUCH

ERROR WAS NOT HARMLESS PARTICULARLY

WHERE THIS WAS NOT A BASIS FOR RELIEF

SOUGHT BY MCLEAN.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

THE SUPERIOR COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD

THAT THE STOP OF THE DEFENDANT'SCAR WAS

PRETEXTUAL AND UNLAWFUL.

IL THE SUPERIOR COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD

THAT TROOPER THOMPSON GAVE IMPROPER

OPINION TESTIMONY AND THAT SUCH ERROR

WAS NOT HARMLESS. PARTICULARLY WHERE

THIS WAS NOT A BASIS FOR RELIEF SOUGHT BY

MCLEAN.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

L Procedural history

Charles McLean was arrested for driving while under the influence

on August 18 2010. He was subsequently charged with driving while

under the influence. Prior to trial, he filed a motion to suppress the

evidence used against him as having been the product of an unlawful



seizure. The motion was denied and the case proceeded to trial, after

which McLean was convicted. He was sentenced as a third time offender

to 120 days in jail. See Judgment and Sentence, attached. The Superior

Court for Clark County reversed his conviction for the reasons set forth

below. The State filed a timely Notice of Discretionary Review and

Motion for Discretionary Review, which this Court granted.

2. Substantive facts

McLean was traveling on State Route 500 in Vancouver,

Washington at about 12:30 a.m. on August 18 2010. Trial Transcript

TT) at p. 36 -37. Trooper Thompson of the Washington State Patrol was

on duty at that time and saw McLean's car. TT at 36 -38. The reason that

Trooper Thompson's attention was drawn to McLean was because

McLean was weaving in his lane. TT at 38. As he drew within a couple of

car lengths of McLean's car, Trooper Thompson saw that the defendant's

car was continuously weaving and that the car actually left its lane and

crossed the line onto the shoulder three times. TT at 39. After following

the defendant and watching him weave in his lane the entire time like a

fish in the water, Trooper Thompson activated his emergency lights in an

attempt to stop McLean's car. TT at 41, 71. In spite of the fact that there

was an available shoulder on which he could have pulled over on the right

hand side of the road, McLean entered the left turn lane and stopped at a

2



red light. TT at 41. For officer safety reasons Trooper Thompson preferred

that the traffic stop occur on the right shoulder and used his PA system to

instruct McLean to pull to the right instead. TT 41 -42. McLean did not

follow this instruction and remained where he was. TT 42 -43. When the

left turn arrow turned green Thompson then instructed McLean to just

proceed through the intersection but McLean still did not comply or move.

TT at 43. Then, when the oncoming traffic got their green light to come

through the intersection McLean made a left turn and nearly caused a

collision. TT at 43. After making the turn McLean pulled to the right hand

shoulder of Falk Road. TT at 43.

Upon contacting McLean, Trooper Thompson immediately

smelled an odor of alcohol and asked him for his registration, license and

proof of insurance. TT at 43. McLean had difficulty producing his driver's

license and registration. TT at 44. During this time Thompson asked

McLean several questions about where he was going and where he had

been coming from, and noticed several things about McLean. TT at 44. He

noticed that McLean's speech was very slurred, the odor of alcohol

emanating from him was very strong, his responses were delayed and he

had poor finger dexterity. TT at 44. At trial, Trooper Thompson testified

that these observations were consistent impairment due to alcohol. TT at

44. McLean denied having consumed any alcohol. TT at 45. McLean
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agreed to perform field sobriety tests. As he got out of his car, McLean

staggered. TT at 45. McLean performed poorly on these tests. TT at 48 -57.

Regarding the horizontal gaze nystagmus test specifically, McLean had all

six of the clues Trooper Thompson is trained to look for when

administering the test. TT at 51. As a result, Thompson testified that based

on his training and experience, the result of the horizontal gaze nystagmus

test was consistent with McLean being under the influence of alcohol. TT

at 51. Based on all of his observations and the field sobriety tests,

Thompson testified he believed that McLean was under the influence of

alcohol and he arrested McLean. TT at 58. Later, McLean refused to take

a breath test. TT at 65. No objection was made to any of the

aforementioned testimony.

3. Pre - trial motion to suppress

McLean brought a motion to suppress the evidence claiming that

the stop of his car was unlawful. Trooper Thompson testified that he has

made over seven hundred DUI arrests since joining the State Patrol in

2005. Motion Transcript (MT) at page 4. He has received training to learn

how both alcohol and drugs affect the human body. MT at 3. He is a

certified Drug Recognition Expert. MT at 3. He testified that as he

traveled westbound on SR 500 he saw McLean's car in the left lane of
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travel and the car was weaving in its lane. MT at 4. He accelerated up to

McLean's car and followed behind him in the right lane as McLean

continued in the left. MT at 9. McLean continuously weaved in his lane

and on at least three occasions he weaved onto the left shoulder of the

roadway. MT at 9. The weaving was like watching a fish weave through

water, as though a product of delayed steering input. MT at 13. When

questioned by defense counsel, Trooper Thompson identified two

infractions he believed the defendant committed: Leaving his lane of

travel by crossing over the fog line three times, and traveling unlawfully in

the left lane while not passing. MT at 23. Trooper Thompson testified that

even without the two infractions of driving unlawfully in the left lane and

leaving the lane of travel, he still would have stopped McLean's car due to

the weaving within the lane. MT at 25.

The district court denied the motion to suppress, orally finding:

Here, we have the constant travel in the left hand lane for
no apparent reason, because there's no other traffic on the
road according to the trooperjust him and the defendant.
He also then makes 3 incursions outside the lane. Once he

describes it by, as by half a tire width and I think -, I

understood that at first to be totally outside the lane he
clarified that for you to indicate that over half the vehicle

width of the tire had crossed outside, but there was still
some of the tire on the white line itself And then the -, there

was at least one incursion where the vehicle was totally
outside the line.

MT at 36-37.
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The district court orally concluded, as a matter of law:

I don't think Prado` asks the trooper to sit and follow a
vehicle that he feels may be operated by an impaired driver,
and that's what Trooper Thompson was clearly looking for
was an impaired driver. And he was looking for infractions
that would lead him to believe that an infraction -, the

infractions were being committed because the driver was
impaired. I don't think Prado is asking the troopers to, at
count 3 or count 1 or count any specific number. If you
crossed the line just once and side swiped the Jersey
barrier, that may have been enough for PC. Here we've got
3 times where he went outside the line.

In Trooper Thompson's mind, at that point in time, he felt
he had a reasonable, articulable suspicion to state that the
driver, the defendant, was operating a motor vehicle while
he was under the influence. And I don't think Prado

expects troopers to keep following until some unfortunate
incident happens. I think it expects a trooper to use
reasonable, articulable suspicion and I believe he has that in
this case.

And I'm going to rule that Prado does not apply, that there
is enough that he has gone past what Prado expects. And
that there is sufficient information for him to make the stop
that he did.

NIT at37.

Following his conviction after trial, McLean filed a direct appeal in

the Superior Court. He did not assign error to any of the trial court's

factual findings on the suppression hearing. To the extent that his briefing

is clear at all, he assigned error to the trial court's conclusion of law that

State v. Prado, 145 Wn.App. 646, 186 P.3d 1186 (2008).
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State v. Prado, 145 Wn.App. 646, 186 P.3d 1186 (2008), was

distinguishable and did not compel suppression of the evidence in

McLean's case. See Brief of Appellant at pages 5-10. He further assigned

error to the trial court's conclusion that the officer had probable cause to

believe that McLean had committed the infraction of driving unlawfully in

the left hand lane as proscribed by RCW 46.6 1. 100. He claimed pretext

and cited State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 979 P.2d 833 (1999), but did

not claim at the motion to suppress that the stop of his car was pretextual.

Rather, McLean appears to believe that officers are only permitted to

make Terry stops of vehicles when they have reasonable suspicion to

believe an infraction has been committed, not when they have reasonable

suspicion of criminal activity. He appears to believe that a stop based on

reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed, rather than for an

infraction, would violate Ladson. This is so, he reasons, because a Terry

stop based on reasonable suspicion of criminal activity focuses on an

officer's subjective intent rather than on objective measurements such as

whether a particular course of conduct constituted an infraction. To the

extent he argues that the stop of his car was pretextual, he was making a

claim that the district court had no opportunity to evaluate because he did

not make that claim at the trial court level.
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The second assignment of error McLean made in his appeal was

that he received ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney did not

object to opinion testimony by Trooper Thompson that McLean exhibited

signs that were consistent with him being under the influence of alcohol.

McLean argued that although City ofSeattle v. Heatley, 70 Wn.App. 57- ),

854 P.2d 658 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1011, 869 P.2d 1085

1994), allows an officer to offer an opinion as to impairment, Trooper

Thompson's testimony went "far beyond the allowable opinion evidence

in Heatley." See Brief of Appellant at p. 131. He doesn't say how this is so,

beyond complaining that Trooper Thompson testified about his training in

learning how to detect alcohol impairment and his testimony that if he

determines that someone is not impaired, he doesn't arrest him or her. See

Brief of Appellant at 3, TT at 33-34. This, according to McLean,

amounted to Trooper Thompson testifying that anyone who gets arrested

based on the officer's opinion that he is impaired) is guilty. See Brief of

Appellant at page 13. This is so, he must necessarily reason, because an

opinion as to impairment constitutes an improper opinion on an ultimate

issue.

The Superior Court, sitting in its capacity as the appellate court in

this matter, agreed with McLean on both assignments of error. The Court

M



issued an order entitled "Opinion and Remand to District Court" which

stated:

The Court, after reviewing the record, considering the
briefs submitted by the parties and hearing oral argument,
comes to the following conclusions of law:

1. Pursuant to State v. Prado, 145 Wn.App. 646
2008), 145 Wn.App. 646 (2008), Trooper Thompson*s
stop of Defendant for DUI was not supported by reasonable
suspicion.

2. Although reasonable suspicion existed for an
infraction (violation of RCW 46.61.100(2), "Keep right
except when passing, etc."), to the extent that the stop was
based on that infraction the stop was pretextual. The Court
concludes: "How many cars do we see pulled over because
they have been traveling in the left lane? How many times
have we all driver down the road behind somebody who is
in the left lane and won't pull over? That's you know,
that's a stop that doesn't make it at least in my mind, in
terms of being anything other than a pretext so under the
case law, the stop is not good." State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d
343 (1999).

3. Trooper Thompson gave improper opinion
testimony on an ultimate issue to be decided by the jury,
and the error was not harmless.

4. As a result of the foregoing Conclusions of Law,
insufficient evidence remains to prove the elements of DUI.
The case is hereby remanded to District Court for dismissal
with prejudice, consistent with this opinion.

See Opinion and Remand to District Court, attached. A timely

notice of discretionary review was filed by the State. This Court granted

review.
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D. ARGUMENT WHY SUPERIOR COURT SHOULD BE

REVERSED

THE SUPERIOR COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD

THAT THE STOP OF THE DEFENDANT'S CAR WAS

PRETEXTUAL AND UNLAWFUL.

The Superior Court misapplied Washington and Federal

constitutional law when it held not only that State v. Prado, supra, applies

to this case but that it compels a finding that the stop was unlawful. Prado

is wholly inapplicable to this case. In Prado, an officer stopped the

defendant's car based on a single excursion outside the lane of travel by

two tire widths for a period of one second. Prado at 647. The stop was

solely based on the officer's belief that the defendant committed the

infraction of traveling outside the lane of travel, contrary to RCW

46.6 L 140(1). The stop was not based on any suspicion of criminal

activity, reasonable or otherwise. After making the stop, the officer

discovered that the driver was intoxicated. Because the stop was not

based, either in whole or in part, on suspicion of criminal activity, the

validity of the stop depended on whether the infraction occurred. Division

I of the Court of Appeals held that the language "a vehicle shall be driven

as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane and shall not be

moved from such lane until the driver has first ascertained that such

movement can be made with safety" meant that the legislature did not
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intend to punish "brief incursions over the lane lines." Prado at 649. "A

vehicle crossing over the line for one second by two tire widths on an exit

lane does not justify a belief that the vehicle was operated unlawfully." Id.

The differences between this case and Prado are both obvious and

substantial. In Prado, the sole basis for the traffic stop was the suspected

infraction, not reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. In Prado, even if

the stop had been based on a suspicion of criminal activity, such suspicion

would likely have been deemed unreasonable due to the extreme brevity

of the transgression. The State's position in Prado essentially demanded

perfection of drivers and the Court of Appeals correctly held that the

legislature did not intend such rigidity. That is not what occurred here.

Here, Trooper Thompson saw McLean weaving in his lane like a fish

weaves through water, which, based on his training and experience,

suggested to him that the driver could be impaired. Then, he saw McLean

actually weave out of the lane of travel three times. At that point he had a

reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. To meet the standard of

reasonable suspicion, an officer must be able to "point to specific and

articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those

facts, reasonably warrant [the detention]." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 16-

19, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968). "When reviewing the merits of an investigatory

stop, a court must evaluate the totality of the circumstances presented to
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the investigating officer." State v. Glover-, 116 Wn.2d 509, 514, 806 P.2d

760 (1991); United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 418, 101 S.Ct. 690

1981). The court should also take the officer's experience into account

when determining whether an officer's suspicion is reasonable. Glover at

514 ( "The court takes into account an officer's training and experience

when determining the reasonableness of a Terry stop.)

Trooper Thomspon's stop of McLean's car was based on

Thompson's suspicion that McLean was engaged in criminal activity and

that suspicion was reasonable. That Trooper Thompson also had probable

cause to believe that McLean committed the traffic infraction of failing to

keep to the right except when passing (see RCW 46.61.100) does not

negate his reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. McLean has cited no

authority at any point in these proceedings which holds that an officer can

have one, and only one, basis for stopping a car. Nor has he cited any

authority which holds that if probable cause that an infraction has been

committed is found lacking, such deficiency would nullify a

concommittant reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. In other words,

even if the Superior Court were correct in holding that the suspected

infraction of failing to keep right except while passing did not provide

grounds for Trooper Thompson to stop McLean's car, Thompson was
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nevertheless justified in stopping the car based on his reasonable suspicion

of criminal activity.

The Superior Court's holding that the infraction of failing to keep

to the right was supported by reasonable suspicion but a pretextual reason

for the stop was erroneous and contrary to Washington constitutional law.

First, McLean did not claim that the stop of his car was pretextual in his

CrRLJ 3.6 motion to suppress. Rather, he merely claimed that the

infraction had not been committed. See Motion Transcript, pages 28 -31,

34 -35. The claim of pretext was made for the first time on appeal but

McLean failed in his burden (by not recognizing he even bore it) to

establish that the issue should be reviewed for the first time on appeal.

Under State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 253 P.3d 84 (2011), the

following four factors must be present for an issue to have been deemed

preserved for appeal:

1) a court issues a new controlling constitutional

interpretation material to the defendant's case, (2) that
interpretation overrules an existing controlling
interpretation, ( 3) the new interpretation applies
retroactively to the defendant, and (4) the defendant's trial
was completed prior to the new interpretation.

Robinson at 305. The issue of pretext is obviously not a new controlling

constitutional interpretation material to the defendant's case. State v.

Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 979 P.2d 833 (1999) was decided over a decade

13



ago. The rule requiring issue preservation is in place to prevent the State

from being ambushed on appeal and to allow the trial court to consider

and rule upon the issue, thereby minimizing needless appeals. Here, the

State was ambushed by this claim, for which no record was developed

below, and the Superior Court erred in considering this claim for the first

time on appeal where McLean had not met his burden of demonstrating

that this issue should be considered for the first time on appeal or had been

preserved in any way.

To the extent that the Superior Court judge relied on her own

anecdotal experience as a driver ( "How many cars do we see pulled over

because they have been traveling in the left lane? How many times have

we all driven down the road behind somebody who is in the left lane and

won't pull over? That's, you know, that's a stop that doesn't make it at

least in my mind, in terms of being anything other than a pretext so under

the case law, the stop is not good "), such reliance was mind boggling and

highly improper. First, how can a passing motorist possibly know: the

reason " a car has been pulled over? Second, even if this Trooper stops

cars for this infraction more than city police officers or sheriffs deputies,

so what? Such incongruence would not render a stop on this basis

pretextual. Trooper Thompson testified that he regularly stops motorists

for that particular infraction. See Motion Transcript at p. 11. If State Patrol

14



Troopers can no longer enforce the traffic code without being accused of

pretext, what are they there for? The oft- misused Ladson dealt with

undercover narcotics officers who never enforce the traffic code who

nevertheless trumped up a traffic code basis to stop a car when their true

motivation was to be able to conduct a search for narcotics. See Ladson at

345 -47. A traffic stop is pretextual when an officer stops a vehicle, under

the guise of enforcing the traffic code, to conduct an investigation

unrelated to driving. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d at 349 -51. That case is a far cry

from State Patrol Troopers performing their primary funetion—

enforcement of the traffic code.

To the extent the Superior Court's holding was based on the notion

that an officer stopping a car must have a reasonable suspicion (or

probable cause') to believe that an infraction has been committed, and that

a stop of a vehicle cannot be based on reasonable suspicion of criminal

activity alone, the Superior Court clearly misapplied both Washington and

federal constitutional law. The police may stop a vehicle based on a well-

founded suspicion of criminal activity, and may require its occupants to

identify themselves and explain their activities, in the same manner as

with a pedestrian. State v. Serrano, 14 Wn.App. 462, 464 -66, 544 P.2d

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