NO. 43522-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

VS.

CHARLES WAYNE MCLEAN,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Respondent

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

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

I don't think Prado asks the trooper to sit and follow a vehicle that he feels may be operated by an impaired driver, and that's what Trooper Thompson was clearly looking for was an impaired driver. And he was looking for infractions that would lead him to believe that an infraction, the infractions were being committed because the driver was impaired. I don't think Prado is asking the troopers to, at count 3 and count 1 or count any specific number. If you crossed outside the line just once and side swiped the Jersey barrier, that may have been enough for PC. Here we've got 3 times where he went outside the line.

MT 36-37.

As far as counsel for Respondent can tell, the state never did prepare or present findings of fact and conclusions of law on the suppression motion and no findings of fact and conclusions of law on the suppression motion even though (1) the state had prevailed on the motion, (2) the defendant later

appealed, and (3) the defendant later argued on appeal that the trial court had erred when it denied the motion to suppress. *See* Record Accompanying State's Motion for Discretionary Review.

The case later came on for trial, with the state calling two witnesses: (1) a toxicologist to testify concerning the physical tests police administer to assess the possibility of alcohol intoxication, and (2) Trooper Thompson concerning his contacts with the defendant. TT. Among other things, the toxicologist testified that "[i]f an individual displays VGN or vertical gaze nystagmus, it's indicative of higher dose of that depressant for that individual." TT 25. Although the defense objected to this testimony, the court appeared to let the claim stand. *Id*.

During his testimony, Trooper Thompson made the following claims, all without objection from the defense:

Trooper Thompson: One is whether or not they're appreciably affected. The other is whether or not they're over the per se level. So if you're appreciably affected, in other words whatever's in your system whether it's alcohol in this case, or some other type of drug that impairs driving, if you're not appreciably affected, if you're not impaired, you're not going to get arrested for DUI. So if I do the standardized field sobriety tests, the standard battery of tests with them; and determine that they're not impaired, they do not get arrested.

TT 33-34.

Prosecutor: During your training and experience, have you learned what type of driving patterns might signify a driver who's impaired?

Trooper Thompson: Yes, Ma'am, I have.

TT 34.

Trooper Thompson: I tend to see impaired driving coming at, what I look for indicators of impaired driving is lane travel, following too close, speeding and improper signal. And I would probably put those in the order of lane travel, speeding, following too close and improper signal. So those are the indicators that, I had like 400 lane travel stops approximately last year. And 200 DUI arrests. So lane travel is a big one.

TT 34-35.

Trooper Thompson: But the standardized field sobriety tests will then tell you, the walk and turn and one-leg stand will then tell you if that person is in fact impaired or appreciably affected is what we like to call it.

TT 47.

Prosecutor: Based on your training and experience, was the defendant's performance on the horizontal gaze nystagmus consistent with the performance of someone under the influence of alcohol?

Trooper Thompson: Yes, Ma'am, it was.

TT 51.

Prosecutor: Okay. So overall, how did the defendant perform on this test?

Trooper Thompson: Consistent with being impaired.

TT 55.

Trooper Thompson: I was able to do the standard battery of tests with the individual and I did believe he was under the influence of intoxicating liquor.

Prosecutor; So your decision wasn't based on a single one of those

3 tests?

Trooper Thompson: No Ma'am.

Prosecutor: Okay. So what did you do once the field sobriety tests were completed?

Trooper Thompson: I arrested the subject for DUI.

Prosecutor: Can you describe the arrest procedure?

Trooper Thompson: Yes, Ma'am. So right there, as soon as we're done with the tests, I direct him to turn around. Advise them that they're under arrest for DUI, place my handcuffs on them, right there. Double lock them so that they don't get any tighter. Which that terminology may not mean anything to you. But there's a little lock on the handcuffs, if you push it in, it keeps the cuffs from getting tighter when they're in the back of the car, because it can hurt them. So you've set them to the appropriate spacing, you double-lock them. Escort him back to my vehicle. I read him his constitutional rights. Placed him in the vehicle, placed him in the car. And continue on.

Prosecutor: Okay. And you said you advised him of his constitutional rights?

Trooper Thompson: Yes, Ma'am.

Prosecutor: And did you use any form or card to advise him of those rights?

Trooper Thompson: Yes, Ma'am....

Prosecutor: And can you please read that onto the record for the court?

Trooper Thompson: Yes Ma'am. . . .

Prosecutor: And did he indicate to you whether or not he under stood them?

Trooper Thompson: Yes, Ma'am. He said he understood his rights

and he did not invoke his right to remain silent. Or to an attorney at that point.

TT 58-59.

Prosecutor: And so at that point then, once the arrest was complete in the field, did you transport the defendant from the scene of that arrest?

Trooper Thompson: Once the impound removed the vehicle, yes, Ma'am.

Prosecutor: So you waited there until the tow came and then did you transport the defendant from the scene?

Trooper Thompson: Yes, Ma'am, I did.

Prosecutor: Where did you take him?

Trooper Thompson: Clark County Jail.

TT 60.

Following this testimony, the state rested its case, and the defense rested without calling any witnesses. TT 89. The court then instructed the jury and counsel presented closing arguments, after which the jury retired for deliberation. TT 90-113. The jury later returned a verdict of guilty. TT 113-114.

After sentencing, the defendant filed a timely notice of appeal to the Clark County Superior Court. See Notice of Appeal. He presented two arguments on appeal: (1) that the trial court had erred when it denied the defendant's suppression motion, and (2) trial counsel's failure to object when

Trooper Thompson presented impermissible opinion evidence of guilt denied the defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment. *See* Brief of Appellant before the Superior Court. Following argument on appeal, the Superior Court reversed the defendant's conviction and remanded for dismissal with prejudice, holding as follows:

- 1. Pursuant to *State v. Prado*, 145 Wn.App. 646 (2008), Trooper Thompson's stop of Defendant for DUI was not supported by reasonable suspicion.
- 2. Although reasonable suspicion existed for an infraction (violation of RCW 46.61.100(2), "Keep right except when passing, etc."), to the extent that the stop was based on that infraction the stop was pretextual. The court concludes;: "How many cars do we see pulled over because they have been traveling in the left lane? How many times have we all driven down the road behind somebody who is in the left lane and won't pull over? That's, you know, that's a stop that doesn't make it at least in my mind, in terms of being anything other than a pretext so under the case law, the stop is no good. *State v. Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d 343 (1999).
- 3. Trooper Thompson gave improper opinion testimony on an ultimate issue to be decided by the jury, and the error was not harmless.

As a result of the foregoing Conclusions of Law, insufficient evidence remains to prove the elements of DUI. The case is hereby remanded to District Court for dismissal with prejudice, consistent with this opinion.

See Opinion and Remand to District Court.

The state later sought Discretionary Review, arguing that (1) the Superior Court erred "when it held that the stop of the defendant's car was

pretextual and unlawful," and (2) that the Superior Court erred "when it held that Trooper Thompson gave improper opinion testimony and that such error was not harmless." *See* Motion for Discretionary Review. The Commissioner of this court has now granted review.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT'S FAILURE TO EFFECTIVELY ARTICULATE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAWS FOLLOWING DENIAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE PRECLUDES EFFECTIVE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW.

Under CrRLJ 3.6(b), the trial court has the duty to at least state findings of fact and conclusions of law if it conducts an evidentiary hearing on a party's motion to suppress evidence. This rule states:

(b) Hearing. The court shall state findings of fact and conclusions of law.

CrRLJ 3.6(b).

Although the rule does not state the form those findings should follow, an analogous Superior Court rule for determining the admissibility of a defendant's statement under CrR 3.5(c) does suggest the issues the court should address when stating findings and conclusions. This rule states:

(c) Duty of the Court to Make a Record. After the hearing, the court shall set forth in writing: (1) the undisputed facts; (2) the disputed facts; (3) conclusions as to the disputed facts; and (4) conclusion as to whether the statements if admissible and the reasons therefore.

CrR 3.5(c); See also CrR 6.1(d) (court's duty to prepare written findings of fact and conclusions of law following a bench trial) and JuCrR 7.11(d) (court's duty to prepare written findings of fact and conclusions of law following juvenile adjudication).

The purpose behind the requirement that the court state findings of fact and conclusions of law when it acts as a fact finder, whether in a motion or a trial, is to enable an appellate court to adequately review the questions raised on appeal. *State v. Stock*, 44 Wn.App. 467, 477, 722 P.2d 1330 (1986) (CrR 3.6); *City of Bremerton v. Fisk*, 4 Wn.App. 961, 962, 486 P.2d 294 (1971) (CrR 6.1(d); *State v. McGary*, 37 Wn.App. 856, 683 P.2d 1125 (1984) (JuCR 7.11). Unless the trial court's oral findings are sufficiently clear and extensive to allow for effective appellate review, the appropriate remedy upon the court's failure to enter the required findings of fact and conclusions of law is to remand the case with an order to enter findings in compliance with the rule. *State v. Head*, 136 Wn.2d 619, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998).

For example, in *State v. Head*, *supra*, the court found the defendant guilty of eight counts of First Degree Theft following a trial to the bench. The defendant thereafter appealed. In spite of the appeal, the trial court never did enter written findings of fact as is required under CrR 6.1(d). The defendant then argued on appeal that the trial court's failure to comply with CrR 6.1(d) required vacation of the convictions and dismissal. The state argued that the error was harmless under the facts of the case. However, the Washington Supreme Court determined that the appropriate remedy was to vacate the conviction and remand for entry of the findings. The court stated:

CrR 6.1(d) requires entry of written findings of fact and conclusions of law at the conclusion of a bench trial....

Remand for entry of written findings and conclusions is the proper course. A trial court's oral opinion and memorandum opinion are no more than oral expressions of the court's informal opinion at the time rendered. *State v. Mallory*, 69 Wash.2d 532, 533, 419 P.2d 324 (1966). An oral opinion "has no final or binding effect unless formally incorporated into the findings, conclusions, and judgment." *Id.* at 533-34, 419 P.2d 324; *accord State v. Dailey*, 93 Wn.2d 454, 458-59, 610 P.2d 357 (1980).

State v. Head, 136 Wn.2d at 621-22 (footnote omitted).

In the case at bar, neither the state as the prevailing party nor the trial court prepared written findings of fact and conclusions of law in spite of the fact that the defendant appealed from the denial of the motion and argued that the trial court erred when it refused the request to suppress evidence. Rather, the District Court only made cursory comments when denying the motion. While the applicable court rule did not require written findings, it did require the court to state its findings and conclusions with enough specificity to allow for effective appellate review. In this case, the trial court's statement denying the motion to suppress does not meet this requirement. This statement was as follows:

Here we have the constant travel in the left hand lane for no apparent reason, because there's no other traffic on the road according to the trooper - just him and the defendant. He also then makes 3 incursions outside the lane. Once he describes it by, as by half a tire width and I think I understood that at first to be totally outside the lane he clarified that for you to indicate that over half the vehicle width of the tire had crossed outside, but there was still some

of the tire on the white line itself. And then the, there was at least one incursion where the vehicle was totally outside the line.

I don't think Prado asks the trooper to sit and follow a vehicle that he feels may be operated by an impaired driver, and that's what Trooper Thompson was clearly looking for was an impaired driver. And he was looking for infractions that would lead him to believe that an infraction, the infractions were being committed because the driver was impaired. I don't think Prado is asking the troopers to, at count 3 and count 1 or count any specific number. If you crossed outside the line just once and side swiped the Jersey barrier, that may have been enough for PC. Here we've got 3 times where he went outside the line.

MT 36-37.

While this oral ruling did address a few of the facts at issue in the motion, it did not at all address the defendant's main claim that the Trooper's reliance on the observation of the defendant weaving within his own lane and crossing on the white line constituted a pretext. In addition, the District Court failed to address the legal sufficiency of the defendant's pretext stop argument. Thus, the trial court's findings were insufficient to allow for effective appellate review. As a result, this court should deny the states' appeal in this case.

II. THE SUPERIOR COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT HELD THAT THE STOP WAS PRETEXTUAL AND THAT DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE WHEN HE FAILED TO OBJECT TO IMPROPER OPINION TESTIMONY.

In the case at bar, the state argues that this court should reverse based upon the arguments that (1) the Superior Court erred when it ruled that the District Court should have granted the motion to suppress because the Trooper had stopped the defendant on a pretext, and (2) the Superior Court erred when it ruled that trial counsel's failure to object to improper opinion evidence denied the defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment. As the following explains, the state's arguments are incorrect. See Brief of Appellant. As the following explains, the State's argument is erroneous.

(1) The Superior Court Did Not Err When it Concluded That the Trooper Stopped the Defendant upon a Pretext.

In this case the Superior Court found the District Court had erred when it denied the defendant's motion to suppress because the evidence presented at the suppression motion had demonstrated that the Trooper's initial stop of the defendant was pretextual. The Superior Court's findings were as follows on this issue:

1. Pursuant to *State v. Prado*, 145 Wn.App. 646 (2008), Trooper Thompson's stop of Defendant for DUI was not supported by reasonable suspicion.

- 2. Although reasonable suspicion existed for an infraction (violation of RCW 46.61.100(2), "Keep right except when passing, etc."), to the extent that the stop was based on that infraction the stop was pretextual. The court concludes;: "How many cars do we see pulled over because they have been traveling in the left lane? How many times have we all driven down the road behind somebody who is in the left lane and won't pull over? That's, you know, that's a stop that doesn't make it at least in my mind, in terms of being anything other than a pretext so under the case law, the stop is no good. *State v. Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d 343 (1999).
- 3. Trooper Thompson gave improper opinion testimony on an ultimate issue to be decided by the jury, and the error was not harmless.

As a result of the foregoing Conclusions of Law, insufficient evidence remains to prove the elements of DUI. The case is hereby remanded to District Court for dismissal with prejudice, consistent with this opinion.

See Opinion of the Clark County Superior Court.

As the following explains, the Superior Court did not err when it found that the District Court had erred when it failed to suppress based upon the Trooper's pretextual stop of the defendant.

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